5

RECEIVED

JAN 27 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-01-00306
Appellate Case No. 2014-000946

Richard Wilson, Michael J. Antoniak, Jr., Marsha L. Antoniak, Anita L. Belton, Prescott Darren Bosler, Johnny Calhoun, Sallie Calhoun, Cynthia Gary, Robert Wayne Gary, Eugene P. Lawton, Jr., Jeanette Norman, James Robert Shirley, Robert W. Spires, Crystal Spires Wiley, Lewis S. Williams, Janie Wiltshire, Benjamin Franklin Wofford, Jr., and Rebecca Hammond Wofford,..... Respondents.

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by ruling there was no valid contract containing an arbitration provision despite the fact that the Federal Arbitration Agreement does not require a signed agreement for an arbitration provision to be enforceable and despite the fact that Appellants and co-defendants Southern Risk Insurance Services and Laura Willis have continuously operated under signed and unsigned agreements containing written arbitration provisions?
2. Did the trial court err by ruling that the arbitration provision at issue was too “narrow” to encompass the plaintiffs’ claims, despite the expansive wording of the provision?
3. Did the trial court err by refusing to compel arbitration of the Respondents’ claims against the Appellant insurers when each of those claims was based and grounded on provisions of a contract that contained a binding arbitration agreement?
4. Did the trial court err by conflating the allegations made against the Appellants with those made against the co-defendants and thus ruling that Appellants’ alleged wrongdoing was so “outrageous” as to render it unforeseeable?
5. Did the trial court err by ruling that Appellants waived their right to compel arbitration despite the de minimis lapse of time between the filing of the lawsuits and the motion to compel and despite the absence of any significant proceedings in the lawsuits?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court’s denial of Peerless Insurance Company’s, Montgomery Mutual Insurance Company’s, and Safeco Insurance Company of America’s (collectively “the Insurers”) motions to compel arbitration of the claims made against them and to dismiss them from 14 related suits.¹ The suits, which were filed between November 1, 2012 and August 28, 2013, all allege wrongdoing by Laura Willis, an insurance agent operating under the supervision of Jesse Dantice and Southern Risk

¹ The suits are Case Numbers 2012-CP-01-306, 2012-CP-01-340, 2012-CP-01-341, 2012-CP-01-342, 2012-CP-01-343, 2013-CP-01-044, 2013-CP-01-045, 2013-CP-01-066, 2013-CP-01-073, 2013-CP-01-094, 2013-CP-01-123, 2013-CP-01-124, 2013-CP-01-220, and 2013-CP-01-221.

Insurance Services, LLC (“Southern Risk”). Twelve of the suits were brought by residents of Abbeville County who were Willis’ customers, and two suits—those brought by Richard Wilson and Robert Shirley—were brought by local insurance agents who were competitors with Willis and Southern Risk.

The plaintiffs in the lawsuits name several defendants including Willis, Dantice, Southern Risk and various insurance companies, including the Insurers. The plaintiffs allege in the complaints that Willis engaged in a variety of tortious acts and assert a number of claims including that the Insurers had a duty to properly investigate, train, and supervise Willis, that they failed to detect and stop her wrongdoing, and that they engaged in unfair trade practices, civil conspiracy, conversion, fraud, and negligent misrepresentation.

On October 31, 2013, the Insurers filed motions to compel arbitration and to be dismissed from the suits.² The motions were based on the ground that each of the plaintiffs’ claims against the Insurers was premised on the Insurers’ alleged duties that would not exist but for the Insurers’ contractual relationship with Southern Risk. The Insurers argued that the contract contains a broad, binding arbitration provision, and the plaintiffs cannot rely on and seek to recover monies against the Insurers based on some provisions of the agreement while ignoring others such as the arbitration clause.

The trial court heard arguments on the motions on January 21, 2014, and the plaintiffs filed memoranda in opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration that same day. The Insurers filed reply memoranda in support of their motion on February 11, 2014. On March 25, 2014, the trial court issued an order denying the Insurers motions. The

² The Insurers filed their motion several days later in the suits brought by Eugene Lawton and the Antoniaks.

Insurers filed motions to alter or amend that ruling on April 8, 2014. The trial court denied these motions on April 21, 2014. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The claims and allegations in the different suits include that Willis failed to procure the insurance purchased by the plaintiffs, stole their premium payments, improperly submitted their insurance applications, and later improperly backdated insurance applications after the plaintiffs suffered a loss. In the suit brought by Jeanette Norman, for example, she alleges that in September of 2010, she met with Willis to discuss insurance for her automobiles and real property and to fill out insurance applications. (Norman Compl. at ¶¶ 10-14 (R. 365-67).) Norman alleges that, although she provided Willis with her Social Security number for use on the application, a different Social Security number was used, and Willis did not inquire of Norman's claim history or ask for her automobiles' Vehicle Identification Numbers. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 11 and 14 (R. 366, 367).) At that meeting, Norman paid part of what she believed to be the premium for the real estate policy. (*Id.* at ¶ 12 (R. 366).) She alleges she subsequently received her automobile insurance identification cards, which contained incorrect information, and that she was later contacted by the company financing one of her vehicles to inform her that the vehicle was not insured. (*Id.* at ¶ 15 (R. 367).) Norman alleges that Willis' tortious acts impaired her credit rating and caused her to pay a higher rate for automobile insurance both now and in the future. (*Id.* at ¶ 16 (R. 367-68).) Norman alleges the Insurers had a duty to properly investigate, train, and supervise Willis (*id.* at ¶ 8 (R. 365)), that they failed to detect and stop her wrongdoing (*id.* at ¶ 17 (R. 368-69)), and that they engaged in statutory unfair trade practices (*id.* at ¶¶ 19-23 (R. 370)), common law unfair trade practices (*id.* at ¶¶ 24-28 (R. 371)), conversion (*id.* at ¶¶ 29-32 (R. 372)),

fraud (*id.* at ¶¶ 33-41 (R. 372-73)), and negligent misrepresentation (*id.* at ¶¶ 42-48 (R. 373-74)).

Similarly, Anita Belton alleges in her Complaint that around April 19, 2011, she contacted Laura Willis regarding the purchase of insurance for her vehicles and her home. (Belton Compl. at ¶ 9 (R. 352).) Belton paid what she believed to be the insurance premium to Willis. (*Id.* (R. 352).) Belton's vehicle was subsequently involved in a collision and, when Belton informed Willis of this, Willis allegedly stated she would complete the requisite insurance verification form and would take care of any damages claimed by the third party involved in the collision. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 10-11 (R. 352-353).) Belton was subsequently contacted by the State of South Carolina, which had not received the insurance verification form, with the result that her license and registration were suspended and she was required to obtain insurance. (*Id.* at ¶ 12 (R. 353).) Belton alleges that Willis engaged in a variety of tortious acts. (*Id.* at ¶ 13 (R. 353-54).) She further alleges that the Insurers had a duty to properly investigate, train, and supervise Willis (*id.* at ¶ 8 (R. 352)), that they failed to detect and stop her wrongdoing (*id.* at ¶ 13 (R. 353-54)), and that they engaged in unfair trade practices (*id.* at ¶¶ 14-18 (R. 355-56)), civil conspiracy (*id.* at ¶¶ 19-23 (R. 356-57)), conversion (*id.* at ¶¶ 24-27 (R. 357)), fraud (*id.* at ¶¶ 28-35 (R. 358)), and negligent misrepresentation (*id.* at ¶¶ 36-42 (R. 59-60)).³

The suits brought by Willis' two local competitors assert similar legal claims. In the suit brought by James Shirley, for example, he alleges is the owner and operator of Ayers-Shirley Insurance Agency in Abbeville, South Carolina, and that beginning in 2008, his

³ The factual allegations in the other suits brought by Willis' customers are variations on this theme, and the legal claims asserted against the Insurers are the same as those in the Norman and Belton Complaints.

business was hindered by Willis' tortious acts. (Shirley Amend. Compl. at ¶¶ 1, 10-11 (R. 378, 380-81).) Shirley alleges the Insurers had a duty to properly investigate, train, and supervise Willis (*id.* at ¶ 9 (R. 380)), that they failed to detect and stop her wrongdoing (*id.* at ¶ 11 (R. 381-82)), and that they engaged in statutory unfair trade practices (*id.* at ¶¶ 13-18 (R. 383-84)), common law unfair trade practices or unfair competition (*id.* at ¶¶ 19-23 (R. 384)), civil conspiracy (*id.* at ¶¶ 24-27 (R. 385)), and tortious interference with existing and future contractual relations (*id.* at ¶¶ 28-31 (R. 385-86)).

During the entire period of Willis' alleged wrongdoing, the Insurers' relationship with Willis and Southern Risk was established and governed by contract. Southern Risk was formed on May 17, 2004. (*See* S.C. Sec. of State Database, attached as Ex. F to Insurers' Reply in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration (R. 483).) Upon its formation, Southern Risk and Dantice became agencies, sub-agents, or sub-producers of the South Carolina Agent Network ("SCAN"). (*See* Aff. of James Berry at ¶¶ 6-8, attached as Ex. K to Insurers' Reply in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration (R. 504).)

The Montgomery Companies had previously entered into a master agency agreement with SCAN on December 1, 2003. (*See* Dec. 1, 2003 Agreement (R. 470).) That agreement contained an arbitration provision. (*Id.* at ¶ 11 (R. 473-74).) The Safeco Companies subsequently entered a similar agency agreement with SCAN on December 15, 2006 (*see* Dec. 15, 2006 Agreement (R. 476)), and thereafter entered a Limited Agency Agreement directly with Southern Risk on or around March 14, 2007 (*see* March 14, 2007 Agreement (R. 503)).

On September 13, 2007, after SCAN changed its name to Assure Alliance, Inc., Safeco renewed its “master” Agency Agreement with Assure Alliance. (See Sept. 13, 2007 Agreement (R. 495).) This master agreement, which contained an arbitration provision, expressly applied to Assure Alliance’s sub-producers and employees such as Southern Risk and Willis. (*Id.* at 1 (R. 495).) Similarly; on August 15, 2007, Montgomery, acting through Liberty Mutual, entered an Agency Agreement directly with Assurance Alliance. (See August 15, 2007 Agreement (R. 439).) This Agreement also contained an arbitration agreement. (*Id.* at ¶ 12 (R. 444).) Finally, on or around April 1, 2010, Montgomery and Safeco, acting through Liberty Mutual, signed and sent an Agency Agreement directly to Southern Risk (the “Agency Agreement”).⁴ (See April 1, 2010 Agency Agreement (R. 451).) This Agency Agreement also contained an arbitration agreement. (*Id.* at ¶ 12 (R. 456).)

The Agency Agreement requires the parties to attempt informal resolution when “any dispute or disagreement arises in connection with the interpretation of this Agreement, its performance or nonperformance.” (2010 Agency Agreement at ¶ 12.A (R. 456).) If the disputing parties cannot informally resolve the dispute, it will be resolved by arbitrators who “have particular knowledge and experience with independent insurance agency/company issues” and who apply the American Arbitration Association’s (“AAA”) Commercial Arbitration Rules. (*Id.*) The arbitration will be conducted by a single arbitrator chosen impartially by the AAA unless the amount in controversy exceeds \$50,000, in which case either party may demand a three-arbitrator panel and

⁴ Because Peerless is a member of the Montgomery Insurance division of Liberty Mutual, any of Peerless’ dealings with Southern Risk or Willis would only be pursuant to and governed by the terms of Liberty Mutual/Montgomery’s 2010 Agency Agreements with Southern Risk. See www.montgomery-ins.com/omapps/ContentServer?pagename=MontgomeryInsurance/Views/MontgomeryInsurance&ft=1&fid=2237825802125 (noting Peerless is one of Montgomery’s underwriting companies) (last visited August 11, 2014).

each party may select one of the arbitrators. (*Id.* at ¶ 12.B (R. 456).) The costs of the arbitration are to be borne equally by the parties, and each party is responsible for its own attorneys' fees. (*Id.* at ¶ 12.C (R. 456).)

Although the Insurers have to date only been able to locate a version of the 2010 Agency Agreement unsigned by Southern Risk, the parties performed under that agreement; and prior agreements between the Insurers and Southern Risk that governed the privilege of Southern Risk, Dantice, and Willis to place insurance for the Insurers also contained arbitration provisions. (*See* Aff. of James Berry ¶¶ 6-8, 13 (R. 505, 506); *see also* Tr. 15:11-16:2, 32:4-14 (R. 413-14, 429).) Southern Risk, Dantice, and Willis operated under the terms of the 2010 Agency Agreement until it was terminated in November 2012.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (citing *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012)). “[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Id.* (quoting *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000)).

ARGUMENT

The plaintiffs' claims against the Insurers should be compelled to arbitration despite the fact that the plaintiffs did not personally sign the Agency Agreement(s) containing the arbitration agreement. The various agreements between Southern Risk and the Insurers, including the 2010 Agency Agreement, contain valid and enforceable arbitration provisions.

These provisions encompass the claims and allegations made here, and South Carolina courts have recognized that one who has not signed an arbitration agreement may nevertheless be bound by the agreement. *See Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2012). Because valid, enforceable arbitration agreements existed and the Insurers did not waive the right to compel arbitration, the trial court erred by refusing to compel arbitration.

I. The trial court erred by ruling that no valid contract exists containing an arbitration agreement.

In its Order denying the motion to compel arbitration, the trial court ruled that because the Insurers could not locate a copy of the 2010 Agency Agreement that was signed by Southern Risk, there was no valid, binding contract by which the plaintiffs could be forced to arbitrate their claims. *See Order at 3-4 (R. 10-11)*. As explained below, however, neither contract law, the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”),⁵ nor the Statute of

⁵ The FAA applies “whenever an arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce.” *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, ___, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014) (citations omitted). If the FAA applies, it preempts any conflicting state arbitration statute with which it conflicts. *Doctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto*, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996); *Southland Corp. v. Keating*, 465 U.S. 1, 10-11 (1984). For purposes of determining whether a contract is one “involving commerce” such that the FAA applied, the word “involving” is interpreted broadly and is the functional equivalent of “affecting commerce,” which “normally signaled Congress’ intent to exercise its Commerce Clause powers” in full. *Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 273 (1995). *See also Dean*, 408 S.C. at ___, 759 S.E.2d at 731 (noting that the FAA’s reach is “coextensive with the broad reach of the Commerce Clause”) (citations omitted).

Here, the Agency Agreement, the insurance business, and the alleged wrongful acts involve interstate commerce. The Agreement and its addenda note that the Insurers are located outside of South Carolina, which is true, and which is alleged in the Complaints. In addition, some or all of the insurance premiums and resulting commissions that the plaintiffs alleged they were deprived of would have been sent out of or received from outside the State of South Carolina. Accordingly, because the arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce, it is covered by the FAA. *See Dean*, 408 S.C. at 379-80, 759 S.E.2d at 732 (noting that a residency agreement between a South Carolina nursing home and a South Carolina resident implicated interstate commerce and was thus

Frauds require that the 2010 Agency Agreement must be signed to be enforceable. Furthermore, the absence of a signed copy of *that* agreement—if that absence were significant—is entirely mitigated by the existence of prior, signed agency agreements that were in force during the time of Willis’ alleged wrongdoing and which contain arbitration provisions.

A. *The 2010 Agency Agreement need not be signed by Southern Risk to be an enforceable contract.*

Contrary to the trial court’s ruling, there is no requirement in contract law or under the FAA that a contract must be signed by both or all parties in order to be enforceable. “[I]t has long been a paradigm of South Carolina law that when a contract signed by one party only is accepted by the other party, it becomes binding upon both just as if it were signed by both.” *Jaffe v. Gibbons*, 290 S.C. 468, 473, 351 S.E.2d 343, 346 (Ct. App. 1986) (citing *Peddler, Inc. v. Rikard*, 266 S.C. 28, 221 S.E.2d 115 (1975)); *see also Peddler*, 266 S.C. at 32, 221 S.E.2d at 117 (“It is not always necessary, in order to give validity to a contract, that it should be signed by both parties; it may be sufficient if it be signed by one party and accepted, held, and acted upon by the other.”) (quoting *Gladden v. Keistler*, 141 S.C. 524, 140 S.E. 161 (1927)).

Accordingly, courts have held that an arbitration provision in a contract signed by only one of the parties to that contract is nevertheless enforceable under the FAA. *See Poteat v. Rich Prods. Corp.*, 91 F. App’x 832, 834 (4th Cir. 2004) (finding an agreement to arbitrate was enforceable under South Carolina law despite the fact that the employer never signed the agreement that contained the arbitration provision); *Carter v. MasTec*

governed by the FAA because the residency contract required the provision of “meals and medical supplies, which are instrumentalities of interstate commerce”) (citation omitted).

Servs. Co., No. 2:09-2721-PMD, 2010 U.S. Dist. Lexis 10338, *11 (D.S.C. Feb. 5, 2010) (“Under South Carolina law, an arbitration provision located within an employment agreement signed by an employee but not the employer can be enforceable and binding on both parties.”) (citations omitted); *Collie v. Wehr Dissolution Corp.*, 345 F. Supp. 2d 555, 558-59 (M.D.N.C. 2004) (ruling that the lack of one party’s signature did not undermine the arbitration agreement’s enforceability); *Clar Prods., Ltd. v. Isram Motion Picture Prod. Servs., Inc.*, 529 F. Supp. 381, 383 (S.D.N.Y. 1982) (“[I]t is settled law in this Circuit that ‘a party may be bound by an agreement to arbitrate even in the absence of a signature,’ [] as long as the arbitration provision itself is in writing.”).

As made clear by binding South Carolina precedent and the persuasive authority from other jurisdictions, there is no requirement that Southern Risk have signed the 2010 Agency Agreement to make that agreement binding. Further, Southern Risk, Dantice, and Willis have continuously operated under a series of agreements with the Insurers containing arbitration provisions. Because those co-defendants accepted and acted upon each of the agreements, including the 2010 Agency Agreement, those agreements became binding. *Jaffe*, 290 S.C. at 473, 351 S.E.2d at 346. The trial court erred by ruling otherwise.

B. The Statute of Frauds is inapplicable to the 2010 Agency Agreement.

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