THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-01-00306  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000946

RECEIVED  
MAR 02 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Richard Wilson, Michael J. Antoniak, Jr., Marsha L. Antoniak, Anita L. Belton, Prescott  
Darren Bosler, Johnny Calhoun, Sallie Calhoun, Cynthia Gary, Robert Wayne Gary,  
Eugene P. Lawton, Jr., Jeanette Norman, James Robert Shirley, Robert W. Spires, Crystal  
Spires Wiley, Lewis S. Williams, Janie Wiltshire, Benjamin Franklin Wofford, Jr., and  
Rebecca Hammond Wofford,.....Respondents,

v.

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

### ARGUMENT

There is more than ample evidence to reasonably support the trial court's denial of the Insurers' Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss Claims, where the Insurers ignore the statutory law of our state and instead seek to apply an unsigned arbitration provision contained in an alleged agency agreement to the Insureds, who are third parties and non-signatories to the alleged agreement.

#### **1. The trial court was correct in ruling no valid agreement containing an arbitration provision existed between the parties.**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds' Argument I., in its entirety, in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cite. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596,

553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001); *Hilton Head Resort Four Seasons Ct. Horizontal Prop. Regime Council v. Resort Inv. Corp.*, 311 S.C. 394, 397-98, 429 S.E.2d 459, 462 (Ct. App. 1993); *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989); *Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Mkt., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct. App. 1987); *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009); *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997); S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10; *Fici v. Koon*, 372 S.C. 341, 346, 642 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2007); *Davis v. Greenwood Sch. Dist.* 50, 365 S.C. 629, 634, 620 S.E.2d 65, 67 (2005); S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10 (1991); *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 484, 486 S.E.2d 771, 774 (Ct. App. 1997).

While Ms. Williams adopts the Insureds' arguments in section I, additional information is pertinent to her case. The Insurers extensively discuss the purported Agency Agreement that they argue contains a binding arbitration clause. However, the Insurers fail to cite even one South Carolina statute relating to insurance, despite our code devoting an entire title to "The Insurance Law." S.C. Code Ann. § 38-1-10, *et. seq.* (1976, as amended).

The Insurers have obligations under South Carolina statutory law separate and apart from any an alleged Agency Agreement may impose. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-1-10, *et. seq.* (1976, as amended); S.C. Code Ann. § 38-1-20 (33) ("Insurer" includes a corporation, fraternal organization, burial association, other association, partnership, society, order, individual, or aggregation of individuals engaging or proposing or attempting to engage as principals in any kind of insurance or surety business, including the

exchanging of reciprocal or interinsurance contracts between individuals, partnerships, and corporations.”).

Willis and Dantice were agents of the Insurers. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-51-10(h) (“Any person who ... (h) shall do or perform any ... act or thing in the making or the consummating of any contract of insurance for or with any such [insurance] company, other than for himself ... whether any such acts shall be done by an employee of such insurance company or at the instance or request of such insurance company, shall be held to be acting as the agent of such insurance company for which such act is done or risk is taken.”). Any liability the Insureds and Agents assert against Willis, Dantice, and the Insurers derives from our state’s statutory law and not from the purported agency agreements submitted in support of the Motions to Compel.

Under these statutory sections, Willis and/or Jesse Dantice are agents of the Insurers, and as such, the companies are liable for the wrongful acts of their agents under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. As is well-established in South Carolina, a principal is liable under the doctrine of *respondeat superior* for the acts of his agent acting within the scope of employment, even where the agent acts against the express instructions of his principal. See *S. Carolina Ins. Co. v. James C. Greene & Co.*, 290 S.C. 171, 180, 348 S.E.2d 617, 622 (Ct. App. 1986) (holding if a master-servant relationship exists between the defendant and the tortfeasor, the law imputes the negligent act of the servant to the master). The Insureds seek to impose liability on the Insurers pursuant to § 38-51-10, under the *respondeat superior* doctrine. This is unrelated to the alleged agency

agreement and nothing in Respondents' pleadings relate to a dispute or disagreement in the interpretation of the agreement, its performance or nonperformance, or its termination. Even if this Court holds the alleged agency agreements are valid binding contracts between Insurers and Dantice and Willis such contract and arbitration agreement clearly do not apply to the Insureds' cases.

**2. The trial court correctly refused to compel arbitration on the non-signatory respondents where the specific dispute fell outside of the scope of the alleged agreement and where the respondents in no way relied upon the alleged agreement in support of their claims.**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds' Argument II., in its entirety, in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cited. *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 762 S.E.2d 690 (2014); *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012); *Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000); *Bridas S.A.P.I.C. v. Gov't of Turkmenistan*, 345 F.3d 347 (5th Cir. 2003); S.C. Code Ann. § 38-43-10, *et. seq.*; S.C. Code Ann. § 38-51-10; *S. Carolina Ins. Co. v. James C. Greene & Co.*, 290 S.C. 171, 180, 348 S.E.2d 617, 622 (Ct. App. 1986); *R.J. Griffin & Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass'n, Inc.*, 384 F.3d 157, 161 (4th Cir. 2001).

**3. The trial court correctly ruled that, even if the alleged agreement were potentially applicable to the allegations of the complaints, it was simply too “narrowly worded” to encompass the causes of action at issue.**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds’ Argument III., in its entirety, in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cite. *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213-14 (2013); *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 398, 87 S.Ct. 1801, 18 L.Ed.2d 1270 (1967); *In re Kinoshita & Co.*, 287 F.2d 951, 953 (2d Cir. 1961); *Mediterranean Enterprises, Inc. v. Ssangyong Corp.*, 708 F.2d 1458, 1464 (9th Cir. 1983); *Masztal v. Meritplan Ins. Co.*, 586 F. Supp. 2d 662, 667 (S.D. Miss. 2008); *Pennzoil Exploration & Prod. Co. v. Ramco Energy*, 139 F.3d 1061, 1067 (5th Cir. 1998); *International Broth. of Elec. Workers, Local No. 4, AFL-CIO v. KTVI-TV, Inc.*, 985 F.2d 415 (8th Cir. 1993); *Global Reinsurance Co.-U.S. Branch v. Ace Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 42 F. App’x 522, 523-24 (2d Cir. 2002); *Louis Dreyfus Negoce S.A. v. Blystad Shipping & Trading Inc.*, 252 F.3d 218, 224-26 (2d Cir. 2001); *Am. Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc.*, 96 F.3d 88, 93 (4th Cir. 1996); *J.J. Ryan & Sons, Inc. v. Rhone Poulenc Textile, S.A.*, 863 F.2d 315, 319 (4th Cir. 1988); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 598, 553 S.E.2d 110, 119 (2001); *United Steelworkers of America v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co.*, 363 U.S. 574, 582–83 (1960).

**4. The trial court correctly held appellants waived their right to compel arbitration in this matter.**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds' Argument IV. in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cite. *General Equipment & Supply, Co., Inc. v. Keller Rigging & Const., SC, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 553, 556, 544 S.E.2d 643, 645 (Ct. App. 2001); *Hyload, Inc. v. Pre-Engineered Prods., Inc.*, 308 S.C. 277, 280, 417 S.E.2d 622, 624 (Ct. App. 1992); *Provident Life & Accident Ins. Co. v. Driver*, 317 S.C. 471, 478, 451 S.E.2d 924, 929 (Ct. App. 1994); *Sentry Eng'g & Constr., Inc. v. Mariner's Cay Dev. Corp.*, 287 S.C. 346, 351, 338 S.E.2d 631, 634 (1985); *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 126, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251 (Ct. App. 2007).

While Ms. Williams adopts the Respondents' arguments in section IV., additional information is pertinent to Ms. William's case. In determining whether a party has waived its right to compel arbitration, our courts have looked to the following factors: 1) the length of time between commencement of the action and the filing of the motion to compel, 2) if the party requesting arbitration engaged in extensive discovery before moving to compel arbitration; and 3) the prejudice on the non-moving party by the moving party's delay in seeking arbitration. *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 126, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251 (Ct. App. 2007). All three factors are met and the Court should uphold the trial court's denial of Insurers' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Our Court of Appeals held “[w]hat is a ‘substantial length of time’ varies from one case to the next, depending on the extent of discovery conducted and the corresponding presence or absence of prejudice to the party opposing arbitration.” *Rhodes*, 374 S.C. at 127, 647 S.E.2d at 251.

Insurers did not first seek to arbitrate any matter with Ms. Williams before it filed suit against her in federal court in October 2012. (R. pp. 22-77).

Insurers knew, or should have known, about the arbitration clause when it filed this suit in federal court. Insurers again failed to request arbitration when it filed its cross claim against Ms. Williams in state court in April 2013. (R. pp. 205-313). Insurers answered Ms. Williams’ cross claim in June 2013 and again, never mentioned or requested arbitration. (R. pp. 727-735).

More than one year passed before Insurers filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motion was Ms. Williams’ first notice of the purported agency agreement and the alleged arbitration clause in the agency agreement. While our courts have not drawn a bright line for how long is too long before moving to compel arbitration, more than one year is a significant delay when Insurers have had multiple opportunities to request Ms. Williams participate in arbitration and failed to do so until in multiple pleadings it filed in both federal and state courts against Ms. Williams.

Insurers have engaged in discovery during the pendency of this action and during the pendency of the federal action. While the Insurers may not have yet taken depositions or been deposed, they admit they ceased responding to any discovery causing the delay in the discovery

process. Now, they rely on their declination to answer discovery requests to support their argument that arbitration should be compelled.

The prejudice to the nonmoving party is the last factor to consider. Ms. Williams was severely injured in a collision in July of 2012. Ms. Williams filed a separate negligence action related to the collision. (R. pp. 723-726). Discovery is nearly complete in the companion negligence action, but is stayed until this action is resolved. (R. p. 676). Ms. Williams is significantly prejudiced by Insurers' considerable delay in moving to compel arbitration as she cannot proceed in the negligence action until this matter is resolved.

**5. The trial court was without error in determining that the potential liability of the appellants could be based on a statutory duty making the corporate defendant liable for the "outrageous conduct" of their authorized and/or acting agents under the *respondeat superior* doctrine.**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds' Argument V., in its entirety, in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cite. *Partain v. Upstate Auto. Grp.*, 386 S.C. 488, 493-95, 689 S.E.2d 602, 604-05 (2010).

### **ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS**

Respondent Williams adopts the Insureds' arguments to support additional sustaining grounds in its entirety, in the Brief of Respondents filed by Hite and Stone. Rule 208(b)(6), SCACR. This adoption includes the law and documents to which Respondents cite. Rule 402, SCACR; Rule 37, SCRCP; *Barnette v. Adams Brothers Logging, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 588, 593, 586

S.E.2d 572, 575 (2010). However, severe sanctions, such as the dismissal of an action, should only be imposed in cases involving bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to the opposing party's rights. See *Orlando v. Boyd*, 320 S.C. 509, 511, 466 S.E.2d 353, 355 (1996); *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 108-09, 410 S.E.2d 537, 541-42 (1991); *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198-99, 511 S.E.2d 716, 719 (Ct. App. 1999). *McNair v. Fairfield Cnty.*, 379 S.C. 462, 466, 665 S.E.2d 830, 832 (Ct. App. 2008).

It is respectfully submitted that this case is analogous to *Hilton Head Beach & Tennis Resort v Sea Cabin Corp.*, wherein this court found that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting into evidence a copy of a gummed paper warning label which the defendant lumber supplier claimed was on the lumber supplied to the plaintiff builder where (1) the label identified the product as "Interior Fire-X," (2) the label had not been produced during discovery, although the defendant had been served a request for production at the time he was added to the litigation 15 months prior to trial and his responses were provided 11 months later, (3) the builder pushed the case to trial over the supplier's objection that discovery was not complete, and (4) the crux of the case was whether the supplier had adequately warned the builder that the lumber was not to be used outdoors. 305 S.C. 517, 519-20, 409 S.E.2d 434, 435-36 (Ct. App. 1991).

It is undisputed that neither the Insureds and Agents nor any other adverse parties were ever given the opportunity to challenge the alleged agency agreements relied on by Insurers to try to compel arbitration in

this case. Judge Griffith could have denied the Insurers' motion on that basis alone and would have been correct in doing so.

**The Insurers' Motion to Compel Arbitration as to the Insureds should be denied on the basis of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10 which specifically exempts any insured or beneficiary under any insurance policy from arbitration.**

In their Memorandum in Opposition to the Insurers' Motion to Compel, the Insureds raised S.C. Code § 15-48-10, arguing arbitration cannot be enforced against them as Insureds under policies of insurance issued by Insurers. As argued in their Memorandum but not ruled upon either way by the trial judge, the Insureds assert South Carolina's Uniform Arbitration Act specifically exempts any insured under any insurance policy from being bound by arbitration provisions. (R. p. 616 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(b)(4)). As held by this Court, the purpose of section 15-48-10(b) is to regulate the business of insurance. *See Cox v. Woodmen of the World Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 460, 468, 556 S.E.2d 397, 401 (Ct. App. 2001). This statutory section "reverse preempts" the Federal Arbitration Act through the application of the McCarran-Ferguson Act and specifically exempts insurance arbitration clauses. *Cox*, 347 S.C. at 468, 556 S.E.2d at 401.

It is without dispute that each of the Insureds in this case were insureds under policies either issued, or paid for and purported to have been issued, by the Insurers. Although no South Carolina court has spoken as to whether this exemption may be applied to exempt Insureds